

## Planning of Facilities for the Mentally Retarded

Report of the Public Health Service Committee on PLANNING FACILITIES for THE MENTALLY RETARDED

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, EDUCATION, AND WELFARE PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICE Washington, D.C. 20201

## Public Health Service Publication No. 1181-B-1 November 1964

For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office Washington, D.C., 20402 - Price 30 cents

## MAJOR PRINCIPLES for Planning and Programing Facilities for the Mentally Retarded

- Planning of services and facilities should involve full participation of all agencies having a major responsibility to the mentally retarded or having a significant potential for contributing to an overall program. These agencies should include both governmental and voluntary organizations and groups.
- General community services and facilities should be available to the *mentally* retarded to the fullest extent possible and existing services suitable for the retarded should be identified and considered in the planning of needed additional services.
- Planning of services and facilities should be related to other forms of community planning and to social and economic trends.
- Planning agencies and organizations should stimulate the development of programs for the prevention of mental retardation.
- Adequate data should be developed to provide a base for developing services and facilities needed in the continuum of care, and planning should be based on total and complete needs of the retarded rather than on the availability of financial support.
- Where feasible and appropriate, existing facilities should be improved and new services and facilities planned should meet or exceed existing standards.
- 6 Facilities should be located so as to be readily accessible to the population to be served.

## **FOREWORD**

THE BROADENING INTEREST in and community concern with mental retardation and the resultant need for action have been heightened during recent years by the 1962 report of the President's Panel on Mental Retardation and the enactment by the 88th Congress of two major pieces of legislation: The Mental Retardation Facilities and Community Mental Health Centers Construction Act of 1963 (P.L. 88-164) and the Maternal and Child Health and Mental Retardation Planning Amendments of 1963 (P.L. 88-156). This new legislation provides the mechanisms for action on a broad front through Federal grants for the development of a comprehensive State plan to combat mental retardation and for the construction of facilities for the retarded.

The Public Health Service has an important role in the crusade against mental retardation. To assist it in carrying out its responsibilities, the Public Health Service, in consultation with several constituent members of the Secretary's Committee on Mental Retardation, appointed a Committee on Planning Facilities for the Mentally Retarded. This committee recognized the urgent need for guidelines for planning and assumed three major tasks:

- to develop basic definitions of services and facilities needed by the retarded
- to establish principles for planning
- to outline procedures for planning

The results of the committee's deliberations are contained in this report.

The committee believes that this report will be of interest to State, regional, and community planning agencies; to administrative, professional, and policy-making personnel involved in planning, constructing, and operating facilities for the mentally retarded; and to public and private agencies and organizations concerned with the utilization of facilities. The State agencies having the responsibility for developing the State plan under provisions of the Mental Retardation Facilities and Community Mental Health Centers Construction Act of 1963 will, it is hoped, find this report particularly helpful.

The committee gratefully acknowledges the assistance provided by many individuals. Personnel from the Children's Bureau, Office of Education, Public Health Service, Vocational Rehabilitation Administration, and the National Association for Retarded Children, Inc., were consulted frequently by the staff in the preparation of various sections of the report. Thanks are due also to many committee members who gave special assistance to the staff.

HARALD M. GRANING, M.D., Assistant Surgeon General, Chairman.

## Committee on Planning Facilities for the Mentally Retarded

HARALD M. GEANING, M.D., Chairman

Assistant Surgeon General

Chief, Division of Hospital and Medical Facilities

Public Health Service Washington, D.C.

ELIZABETH BOGGS, Ph. D. Upper Montdair, N. J.

ROBERT E. COOKE, M.D. Professor of Pediatrics Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine Baltimore, Md.

F. W. DOYLE, Ph. D. Deputy Superintendent Public Instruction Bureau of Special Education Sacramento, Calif. JACK C. HALDEMAN, M.D.

President, Hospital Review and Planning Council

of Southern New York New York, N. Y.

WILLIAM P. HURDER, Ph. D., M.D. Associate Director for Mental Health Southern Regional Education Board

Atlanta, Ga.

ROBERT I. JASLOW, M.D. *Medical Superintendent* 

Plymouth State Home and Training School

Northville, Mich.

RICHARD L. JENKINS, M.D. *Professor of Psychiatry* 

State University of Iowa College of Medicine

Iowa City, Iowa

EDWARD L.
JOHNSTONS President,
Woods Schools
Langhorne, Pa.

CHARLES P. JUBENVILLE, Ed. D. *Director*, Daytime Care Centers Hospital for Mentally Retarded Stockley, Del.

MAURICE KOTT, Ph. D. *Director*, Division of Mental Retardation State Department of Institutions and Agencies Trenton, N. J.

GERALD D. LA VECK, M.D.

Program Director of Mental Retardation

National Institute of Child Health and Human Development

Public Health Service Bethesda, Md.

ALLEN R. MENEFEE

Assistant Chief, Mental Retardation Branch

Division of Chronic Diseases Public Health Service Washington, D.C.

NATHAN NELSON, Ph. D. Rehabilitation Workshop Consultant Department of Rehabilitation Sacramento 14, Calif.

FRED PLUM, M.D.

Professor of Neurology

Cornell University Medical College

New York, N. Y.

BERT W. SCHMICKEL Deputy
Commissioner Office of Mental
Retardation State Department
of Health Hartford, Conn.

HARVEY STEVENS,

Director, Central Wisconsin Colony and Training School

Madison, Wis.

GEORGE TARJAN, M.D.

Superintendent and Medical Director Pacific State Hospital Pomona,

Calif.

Contributing Staff

PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICE Division of Hospital and Medical Facilities

RONALD B. ALMACK *Chief*, Community Facilities for the Mentally Retarded ANITA REICHERT
Technical Writer

JOHN D. THEWLIS *Chief*, Operations Branch

## **CONTENTS**

	ruge
Foreword	iii
Summary	vii
Chapter I. Need for Planning	1
Concepts in Planning	1
Factors Affecting Planning	2
Characteristics of the Mentally Retarded	3
Scope of the Problem	3
Chapter II. Services and Facilities for the Mentally Retarded	5
Services	5
Diagnosis (and Evaluation)	5
Treatment Services	7
Educational Services	7
Training Services	7
Personal Care Services	8
Facilities	9
Diagnostic and Evaluation Clinic	9
Day Facility	9
Residential Facility	9
Group Home Facility	9
Chapter III. Basic Principles for Planning and Programing	11
Chapter IV. Planning Procedures	15
Coordination of Planning Activities	15
Planning Organization	16
Responsibility for Planning	16
Local Participation	16
Adequate Staffing Essential	16
Obtaining Needed Data	16
Influencing Factors	17
Sources of Information	17
Measuring Need for Services	18
Level of Retardation and Age Grouping	18
Needs in Relation to Type of Service	19
Delineation of Regional Geographic Service Areas	22

Analysis of Needs and Resources	Page 22
Priorities	
Quantitative (Factual) Factors	
Qualitative (Value) Factors	23
Carrying Out Recommendations	
Appendix	
Suggested Reading List	
CHARTS	
No.	
I Developmental Characteristics of the Mentally Retarded	4
II Array of Direct Services for the Retarded	6
III Table of Community Care Services	10

## Summary

## Concepts in Planning

EFFECTIVE PLANNING of services and facilities for the mentally retarded involves the understanding and utilization of several basic concepts. Foremost among these is that opportunities must be provided for each retarded individual to attain his fullest potential. The achievement of this goal presupposes participation of the retarded in community services to the extent appropriate and practicable and, where specialized services are required, making such services available at the community level. Under this planning concept, the types of services and facilities currently available, as well as the number of persons served, must be known, since patterns of availability and utilization differ from community to community.

Services and facilities must be planned in terms of levels of retardation and age groupings since the needs of the retarded vary accordingly. Needs for services and facilities are also conditioned by many sociocultural and economic conditions. High risk areas, i.e., areas of low income and cultural deprivation, generally have a greater incidence of retardation than areas of above-average income levels. High risk areas, too, have less resources for maintenance and support of needed services and facilities. Planning must also take into consideration the availability of professional personnel to adequately staff needed facilities.

All planning programs should recognize the importance of preventive services in combating mental retardation and in ameliorating its effects.

Programs for prevention should be correlated with programs for care and treatment to insure full utilization of community resources and the fullest effort in attacking and solving the problem. In planning, too, mental retardation and mental illness should be recognized as separate problems. At the same time, however, planning for services and facilities in both areas should be correlated as may be feasible.

Public and private agencies engaged in the planning of services and facilities for the retarded face many situations which tend to become barriers impeding the success and effectiveness of planning. Lack of precise data makes the establishment of bench marks for measuring need a nebulous undertaking. Other barriers are a lack of standards for programing and the unavailability of certain services for particular levels of retardation and age groupings. When these situations are coupled with inadequate utilization of existing facilities, the resultant incomplete understanding and acceptance of mental retardation as a community responsibility tends also to be accompanied by inadequate financial support.

## Services and Facilities for the Retarded

PLANNING EFFORTS should result in the availability of an array of services and facilities providing a continuum of care for the retarded. Basic services in this array essential to this continuum of care include the following: • diagnostic and evaluation services. These serv-

ices involve the diagnosis and evaluation of the individual; the appraisal of resources of the individual, his family, and the community; and the development of recommendations for a plan to help the individual realize his fullest potential.

- treatment services. These services include med ical and appropriate related ancillary services and therapies to provide for the improvement of the individual: physically, psychologically, and socially.
- education services. Curriculums of instruction geared to the needs of the retarded at various levels of retardation in different age groupings are the bases of education services.
- training services. Included in these services are training in motor skills, self-help, and activities of daily living; vocational training; and sociali zation experiences conducive to personality development.
- personal care services. Personal care services cover food, shelter, clothing, and medical care. Also included are special medical and nursing services directed at the prevention of regression in the retarded individual and stimulation of his maturation.
- sheltered workshop services. These services in clude vocational evaluation, training, and paid work experience.

The primary types of facilities needed to house the basic services described above include:

- diagnostic and evaluation clinic: housing diag nostic and evaluation services.
- day facility: housing treatment, education, training, personal care, or sheltered workshop services on less than a 24-hour-a-day basis.
- residential facility: housing treatment, education, training, personal care, or sheltered work shop services on a 24-hour-a-day basis.
- group home facility: housing services needed by retarded individuals capable of independent living under a minimum of supervision.

## Principles for Planning and Programing

AMONG THE more important basic principles which should be considered in the planning and programing of services and facilities for the mentally retarded are:

- Planning of services and facilities should involve full participation of all agencies having a major responsibility to the mentally retarded or having a significant potential for contributing to an overall program. These agencies should include both govern mental and voluntary organizations and groups.
- General community services and facilities should be available to the mentally retarded to the fullest extent possible and existing services suitable for the retarded should be identified and considered in the planning of needed additional services.
- Planning of services and facilities should be related to other forms of community planning and to social and economic trends.
- % Planning agencies and organizations should stimulate the development of programs for the prevention of mental retardation.
- Adequate data should be developed to provide a base for developing services and facilities needed in the continuum of care, and planning should be based on total and complete needs of the retarded rather than on the availability of financial support.
- Where feasible and appropriate, existing facilities should be improved and new services and facilities planned should meet or exceed existing standards.
- Facilities should be located so as to be readily accessible to the population to be served.

## **Planning Procedures**

THE PRIMARY responsibility for planning of services and facilities for the mentally retarded should be vested in a State planning organization. Local planning agencies should assist the State planning organization wherever possible; for example, by providing detailed information relative to local conditions. The planning of services and facilities for the mentally retarded should be consistent and in harmony with the basic principles in the State's comprehensive mental retardation plan. Facility planning should also be correlated with State plans for the construction of community mental health centers and hospitals and related health facilities.

A wide variety of data are needed in the planning process. These data cover various facets of existing services and facilities as well as population and socioeconomic characteristics of service areas. Sources of information include

various departments of the State Government and national voluntary agencies maintaining programs for the retarded; local units of State agencies and national voluntary organizations; and local government, voluntary, and private groups.

The developmental nature of mental retardation, the wide spectrum of services required to provide a continuum of care, the prevalance of retardation, and the variation in levels of retardation and age groupings must all be considered in measuring the need for specialized services and facilities within a given geographical area. To these factors must be added the extent to which community health, welfare, and educational services and facilities are available for the retarded. Availability should be measured in terms of adequacy and appropriateness of the services and facilities for the retarded and the interest which community facilities have in serving the retarded along with other segments of the population. In measuring the need in both types of situations, prime decisions must be based upon the empirical knowledge and judgment of persons experienced in making these determinations. Statistical data serve primarily as points of departure for such evaluations.

Delineation of areas is essential for effective programing of services and facilities. These planning areas should be large because of the variations in geographical territory covered by different types of services and facilities. For example, a community residential facility will serve a much larger territory than a community day facility. In delineating areas, consideration should be given to population factors, availability of professional personnel, travel patterns, and travel time.

Limited funds make it imperative for the planning organization to establish a priority sys-

tem for the construction of needed facilities. Chief reliance must be made on qualitative factors such as the availability of community services and community support for programs for the retarded; the relative need for specific specialized services; the extent of cooperation of services with other mental retardation facilities or programs; and the potential quality of programs to be provided.

Quantitative data include information on services and facilities available and the utilization of existing services and facilities. They also include information on the size of population group for which services are to be planned, the levels of retardation and age groupings to be served, and the socioeconomic and cultural characteristics of the service areas.

The planning organization has a responsibility for continuing interpretation of planning recommendations to public and nonprofit agency personnel and to government officials and civic leaders. The ultimate test of all planning of services and facilities for the retarded is the effectiveness of action taken on recommendations. In view of this, the recommendations must be understood by key leadership within the planning area and be capable of implementation within the resources of the area, both current and potential. Effective action on the recommendations of the planning group includes, among many things, the following:

- establishment of a realistic program to carry out recommendations
- gaining and maintaining full support of community and professional leaders
- securing and maintaining adequate and sound financial support
- developing professional staff necessary to provide quality services.

## Chapter I

## Need for Planning

THE GROWING NEED for programs to serve the mentally retarded is stimulating increased demand for action at State, community, and regional levels. A sense of urgency accompanies the determination to have appropriate services and facilities available for all levels of retardation and all age groups and for a wider geographic coverage in a more balanced pattern of distribution. From this urgency stems a need for effective, realistic, and practical planning for the development of services and facilities for the mentally retarded.

## Concepts in Planning

The prime objective of all programs for the mentally retarded is to provide opportunities for each individual to attain his fullest potential. In the planning of services and facilities, cognizance of this objective calls for the establishment of specific goals for each individual in each program, periodic reassessment of program objectives in terms of individual potentials, and a built-in flexibility within programs to permit quick and easy adaptation to changing requirements.

In light of the objective described above, planning should involve utilization of community services insofar as feasible and practical. The values accruing to the individual and his family make it desirable to encourage the inclusion of the retarded within the framework of community programs. The effectiveness of these programs

will depend upon the degree of understanding of the special needs of the retarded and the consideration given to these special needs by personnel administering the programs.

To the extent appropriate and practicable, services and facilities should be planned for availability within the community. This permits utilization of family and community resources, helps sustain family interest in the individual, and facilitates assimilation of the retarded into normal patterns of community life. Efficient planning for the retarded within this community orientation calls for correlation with other community planning activities in the areas of health, education, and welfare to assure full utilization of available resources and to avoid duplication wherever possible.

Those planning services and facilities for the mentally retarded must bear in mind that not all new services or expansions of existing services will require added facilities. Frequently, additional programs can be housed within facilities currently in operation. Efficient planning entails careful analysis of the potentials of existing facilities to provide adequate functional space for new programs to be developed.

A comprehensive attack on mental retardation should include preventive services as well as care and treatment services. Prevention is the most effective means of reducing the prevalence of mental retardation. A significant proportion of

this handicapping condition results from situations which are preventable with good medical care. It is estimated that full application and utilization of existing knowledge through action on a broad front to correct adverse community conditions, combined with specific preventive measures would eliminate at least half of the new cases of mental retardation.

The planning of services and facilities for the mentally retarded calls for the recognition that mental retardation and mental illness are separate problems. Although the two problems are related in that they may on occasion occur in the same person and may involve some of the same kinds of professional skills in diagnosis and in the care of the individual involved, there are basic differences between them which necessitate the establishment of and adherence to different concepts and objectives in the planning process. Planning in both areas, however, should be correlated to the fullest extent possible to insure maximum use of available community resources.

Effective planning includes a realistic assessment of mental retardation needs and an analysis of needs in terms of services and facilities required. This assessment starts with an evaluation of the existing services and facilities available for the retarded, both specialized and general, in terms of their capacity and potentials. It includes the formulation of a specific plan containing recommendations for the development of needed additional services and facilities and the translation of these recommendations into action.

Stimulation of interest in the planning of services and facilities for the mentally retarded must come from the understanding, support, and leadership of professional groups involved in the field of mental retardation such as physicians, special education teachers, psychologists, social workers, and members of many other professions. These groups, in turn", must evoke the participation of leaders in commerce and industry, labor, and other facets of community life.

## Factors Affecting Planning

Planning of services and facilities for the mentally retarded is affected by a wide range of factors and conditions. Some of the more important are: Planning will be conditioned by the number of retardates residing within the planning area. The larger the number of retarded, the greater the prospective need for services and

facilities. Hence, in "high risk" areas—those areas of low income, cultural deprivation, and high density of population—considerable need for services and facilities may be anticipated. Frequently, these areas will show a substantial deficit in existing services and facilities.

The types of services and facilities required will be influenced by the numbers of individuals in the various levels of retardation—mild, moderate, severe, and profound—and in age classifications such as children (preschool and school age) and adults. The availability of existing services and facilities for these levels as well as the total numbers of the retarded served, must be known in order to determine the services and facilities required to adequately meet total needs. For example, the planning area may contain facilities providing educational services for the mildly retarded of school age but no training services for the moderately retarded adult.

The degree to which existing community services are available to the retarded will also have an impact on the planning of services and facilities. Most planning areas will have some type of generic services and facilities open to the mentally retarded. Efficient and realistic planning will necessitate identifying these services and facilities and analyzing programs which they provide, in terms of the total needs of the retarded individuals in the area.

Finally, planning for the retarded will be influenced by the range of specialized services and facilities currently available; the extent to which, when correlated with generic services, these complete the spectrum of needed programs; and the acceptance and support which they enjoy within the community or planning area. The planning of needed specialized services and facilities capable of maintaining quality programs requires public understanding and backing such as that accorded generic services.

Many barriers must be faced in planning services and facilities for the retarded, however. A few of them are mentioned below. For example, the availability of services and facilities does not necessarily imply adequate utilization; significant problems arise in bringing services and clientele together. Avoiding unnecessary service duplications and overlapping may also prove difficult. Furthermore, standards for programing have not been developed to insure adequate services for some levels of retardation or age groups. Techniques are not yet available

for estimating potential caseloads and evaluating demographic, cultural, and economic change.

Other problems have come to the forefront as the mental retardation horizon widens. Among these are the extent to which a given facility actually serves the needs of the area it is intended to serve, and its flexibility to meet a variety of changes. In addition, those planning for the development of services and facilities for the mentally retarded in required quantity face shortages of qualified personnel, problems of financial support, and the incomplete understanding and acceptance of mental retardation as a community problem.

## Characteristics of the Mentally Retarded

From a medical point of view, "mental retardation" is not a disease entity. It is a syndrome which can be produced by many causative agents acting singly or in combination. Symptomatically, it is characterized by delayed or atypical developmental patterns accompanied by impairment of general adaptation. From an educational point of view, the mentally retarded child is characterized by subnormal intellectual function to an extent which prevents him from responding efficiently to the usual patterns of classroom instruction. From a social standpoint, the retarded child is slower in maturing and acquiring social and practical skills; as an adult, the retardate has less than the normally expected ability to manage his affairs and to progress in gainful employment.

Many definitions of mental retardation have been formulated. The one currently accepted by the American Association on Mental Deficiency is: "subaverage general intellectual functioning which originates during the developmental period and is associated with impairment in adaptive behavior." \* "Mental retardation" thus encompasses a wide range of deviance, from minimal to profound. The distinction between normality and the mildest degree of mental retardation is arbitrarily denned. Mildly retarded persons are more comparable to those who are normal than they are to the most profoundly retarded. For this reason, although there are many more near-normal retarded than profoundly retarded, fewer specialized services and facilities are required for the mildly retarded.

Generally speaking, categories of services are established according to the practical level of functioning and age, rather than the cause of retardation. Nevertheless, etiology may have to be considered in the specifics of treatment or education for a particular individual. Practical distinctions must, therefore, be based on extent of impairment, taking account of the various factors which contribute to intellectual and social functioning. The manifestations of these levels of function change with age. These are indicated in abbreviated and qualitative form in chart I (p. 4). Further descriptive material is presented in the section on measuring need which appears in chapter IV.

## Scope of the Problem

As stated above, mental retardation is defined as impairment of ability to learn and to adapt to the demands of society. These demands are not the same in every culture. Even within our own society they vary with the age of the individual. Society as a whole does little to assess the intellectual or social accomplishments of the preschool child. During the school years, however, the individual is evaluated very critically in terms of social and academic accomplishment. In later life, the intellectual inadequacy again may be less evident if social performance meets minimal demands. Numerous surveys directed toward determining the frequency and magnitude of the problem of mental retardation have shown that the number of individuals reported as retarded is highest during the school years. Less than one-fifth as many children in the age group 04 were reported by these surveys as mentally retarded as were reported in the age group 10-14. Similarly, only onefourth as many persons in the age group 20 and over were identified as mentally retarded as in the age group 10-14.

This variation by age is to some extent determined by differential survival rates and other demographic factors. The very high prevalence at ages 10 to 14 is due primarily to the increased recognition of intellectual handicap of children within the school systems, while the low number of infants from 0 to 1 year of age identified as retarded is in part attributable to the fact that their intellectual deficit is not yet apparent. Of striking significance is the fact that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See item 2, Suggested Reading List.

Chart I.—Developmental Characteristics of the Mentally Retarded

DEGREES of Mental Retardation	PRESCHOOL AGE 0-5 Maturation and Development	SCHOOL AGE 6-20 Training and Education	ADULT 21 and over Social and Vocational Adequacy
PROFOUND	Gross retardation; minimal capacity for functioning in sensorimotor areas; needs nursing care.	Some motor development present; may respond to minimal or limited training in self-help.  Can talk or learn to	Some motor and speech development; may achieve very limited self-care; needs nursing care.
SEVERE	Poor motor development; speech is minimal; generally unable to profit from training in self-help; little or no communication skills.	communicate; can be trained in elemental health habits; profits from systematic habit training.	May contribute partially to self-maintenance under complete supervision; can develop self-protection skills to a minimal useful level in controlled environment.
MODERATE	Can talk or learn to communicate; poor social awareness; fair motor development; profits from training in selfhelp; can be managed with moderate supervision.	Can profit from training in social and occupational skills; unlikely to progress beyond second grade level in academic subjects; may learn to travel alone in familiar places.	May achieve self-mainte- nance in unskilled or semiskilled work under sheltered conditions; needs supervision and guidance when under mild social or economic stress.
MILD	Can develop social and communication skills, minimal retardation in sensorimotor areas, often not distinguished from normal until later age.	Can learn academic skills up to approximately sixth grade level by late teens. Can be guided toward social conformity.	Can usually achieve social and vocational skills adequate to minimum self-support but may need guidance and assistance when under unusual social or economic stress.

Source: U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. *Mental Retardation Activities of the U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare.* Washington, D.C., U.S. Government Printing Office, July 1963, p. 2.

more than half of the individuals considered retarded during adolescence are no longer so identified in adulthood.

In view of these considerations, only gross estimates of the overall magnitude of the problem can be established. One such estimate may be derived through measures of intelligence. The numbers who are mentally retarded by this criterion can be calculated roughly on the basis of the experience with intelligence testing. Ex-

perience has shown that virtually all children with I.Q.'s below about 70 on most tests standardized nationally have significant difficulties in learning and in adapting adequately to their environment. About 3 percent of the school-age population score below this level. Based on the figure of 3 percent, it is estimated that about 5.6 million people in the United States are mentally retarded.

## Chapter II

## Services and Facilities for the Mentally Retarded

THE MENTALLY RETARDED require an array of services that provide a "continuum of care" or "spectrum of opportunity" for all levels of retardation and for all age groups. To meet the needs of the retarded as shown in chart I (p. 4) and also provide a continuum of care, a wide variety of patterns of services have been developed. Chart II (p. 6), taken from the Report of the President's Panel, shows both the variety and range of representative services needed by the retarded. Some of these services embody old traditional approaches to the problems of mental retardation, while others are comparatively recent developments.

To achieve a continuum of care requires an overall program of direct services covering: (1) identification and diagnosis; (2) treatment; (3) education; (4) training; (5) personal care; (6) placement and guidance; and (7) protective supervision. Once the problem is identified, all the essential elements of a complete program should be available either within the framework of existing generic services or as specialized services. All services should be correlated to provide maximum efficiency and use of available financial and personnel resources, to insure full coverage of needs of the retarded.

## Services

AMONG THE more important services required by the mentally retarded in an overall program are the following:

## DIAGNOSIS (AND EVALUATION)

Coordinated medical, psychological, and social services, supplemented where appropriate by nursing, educational, or vocational services and carried out under the supervision of personnel qualified to: (1) diagnose, appraise, and evaluate mental retardation and associated disabilities and the strengths, skills, abilities, and potentials for improvement of the individual; (2) determine the needs of the individual and his family; (3) develop recommendations for a specific plan of service to be provided with necessary counseling to carry out recommendations; and (4) where indicated, periodically reassess progress of the individual.

An adequate and thorough diagnosis and evaluation of all retarded persons is essential to the proper planning of individual programs to meet particular and specific needs. Both short-term and long-term planning for treatment,

## Chart II.—Array of Direct Services for the Retarded <sup>J</sup>

	Components of special need		
Life stage	Physical and mental health . Shelter nurture protection . Intellectual development . Social development . Recreation . W	Vork . Economic security	
Infant	Specialized medical follow-up Residential nursery		
	Special diets, drugs or surgery  Sensory stimulation  Child welfare services  Home training  Environmental enrichment		
Toddler	Correction of physical defects Foster care Nursery school Physical therapy Trained baby sitter Classes for slow learners Playground programs		
Child	Psychiatric care Homemaker service Special classes —educable Special classes —trainable		
	Dental care Day care Religious education Scouting Swimming		
	Short stay home Work-school programs Day camps Residential camps		
Youth	Boarding school Speech training Psychotherapy Occupational training Youth groups	"Disabled child's" benefits	
	Social clubs Half-way house Vocational counseling—Personal adjustment training	Health insurance	
Young adult		ive job placement Itered employment Total disability assistance	
	Long-term residential care  Sheltered v  Bowling		
Adult	Group homes Evening school Social supervision	Life annuity of trust	
	Evening recreation		
Older adult	Boarding homes  It Medical attention to chronic conditions Old as	ge assistance	
Cluci uuuli	Wedled attention to enforce conditions	benefits	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Not included are diagnostic and evaluation services, or services to the family; the array is set forth in an irregular pattern in order to represent the overlapping of areas of need and the interdigitation of services. Duration of services along the life span has not been indicated here.

Source: The President's Panel on Mental Retardation. *National Action to Combat Mental Retardation*. Washington, D.C., U.S. Government Printing Office, October 1962.

training, education, and personal care or supervision of the individual and counseling of his parents is dependent upon the quality of diagnosis and evaluation services provided for him. Hence, diagnostic and evaluation services are the keystone to the development of a complete array of services in any community or region.

Eesources contributing to comprehensive diagnostic services for the retarded may be available from a variety of sources: physicians and other professional personnel in private practice; general clinics in medical centers and teaching hospitals; mental health centers; public health department clinics; and outpatient services of residential facilities for the retarded. In many areas, the spectrum of services required to provide complete diagnosis and evaluation may be dispersed among several organizations and agencies. For example, early identification of retardation may come from teachers in the public schools or from school psychologists, while such services as counseling may come from public and private agencies.

Mental retardation is frequently complicated by problems of associated physical disabilities, emotional disturbances, sensory defects, and the like. The existence of these correlative conditions emphasizes the need for comprehensive diagnosis and evaluation prior to the development of individual programs for treatment, education, training, personal care services, or sheltered employment.

## TREATMENT SERVICES

Services under medical direction and supervision providing specialized medical, psychiatric, neurological, or surgical treatment, including, where appropriate, dental therapy, physical therapy, occupational therapy, speech and hearing therapy, or other related therapies which provide for improvement in effective physical, psychological, or social functioning of the individual.

The inclusion of the full range of specialized medical and related services contained in the definition above is predicated on the concept that the retarded will require the same basic medical care as the non-handicapped. The importance of developing and maintaining adequate treatment services for the retarded is also emphasized by the fact that a significant portion of of retardates have associated disabilities such as

impaired hearing, difficulty in perceiving, impaired vision, poor muscular coordination, and physical deformities. Increased survival rates will probably increase the number of retarded persons with associated physical handicaps in the future.

### **EDUCATIONAL SERVICES**

Services, under the direction and supervision of teachers qualified in special education, which provide a curriculum of instruction for preschool children, for school-age children, or for the mentally retarded beyond school age.

The basic functions of educational programs for children of preschool age are to develop basic self-help skills such as dressing and grooming, develop preacademic skills, provide socialization and group training, and promote environmental enrichment for the culturally deprived to improve intellectual experience and motivation. Educational services for the retarded of school age encompass a curriculum of instruction for those unable to keep abreast of a normal public school program. The content of such a curriculum must relate to the capacities of the individuals whom it is to serve.

Many retardates are able to go from school to some type of employment without great difficulty. Others need postschool vocational training services for placement in the economic life of the community. A large number of these retardates have associated personal, social, and physical handicaps. These require specialized training under qualified personnel to develop the skills which will enable them to engage in competitive or sheltered employment.

Vocational training for older youth and adults includes vocational evaluation, counseling, systematic planned instruction for sheltered or competitive employment, placement, and followup services carried out under the supervision of personnel qualified to direct these services.

### TRAINING SERVICES

Services which provide (1) training in selfhelp and motor skills, (2) training in activities of daily living, (3) training in useful occupational skills, (4) opportunities for personality development and social skills, or (5) experiences conducive to social development, and which are

## carried out under the supervision of personnel qualified to direct these services.

This broad definition of training services also includes group activity services, as well as group home and halfway house services.

Group activity services are defined as: Coordinated programs of diversified activities providing opportunities for individual learning and participation including recreational activities.

Group home or halfway house services are defined as: Supervised housing arrangements which may include counseling and group activities for small groups of mentally retarded individuals capable of relatively independent living or for individuals needing opportunities to become oriented to community life.

Training services must be developed for a wide range of levels of retardation and for all age groupings. For example, training services for those in the lower levels of retardation should provide opportunities for the development of behavior patterns, self-care skills, social skills, health habits and attitudes, money management, and many others. Training may be provided on an individual or group basis. For instance, for the young retarded child home training programs are desirable to assist the mother in developing techniques and sequences of activity which contribute to self-help, motor development, and the like.

Training programs must be compatible with the present developmental levels, learning characteristics, and potentials for future development of the retardates involved. For the younger retarded person, training programs usually emphasize selfhelp, basic communication, and interpersonal skills. For the older or more capable individual, training programs will generally stress activities which provide opportunities to acquire skills enhancing participation in family, community, and economic life. Training services may include programs for adults who have completed various types of educational programs available during the school-age years but who are too handicapped to be acceptable in a vocational training or sheltered workshop program.

### PERSONAL CARE SERVICES

Services which provide personal care (including food, shelter, and clothing), and special nursing and medical care directed at the preven-

## tion of regression and the stimulation of maturation.

Personal care services involve much more than programs designed solely to furnish food, clothing, and shelter. These services should only be maintained where treatment, education, and/or training services are provided within the same facility in order to bring the individuals involved to a higher level of function.

### SHELTERED WORKSHOP SERVICES

Services involving a program of paid work which provides (1) work evaluation; (2) work adjustment training; (3) occupational training; and (4) transitional or extended employment and which is carried out under the supervision of personnel qualified to direct these activities.

Sheltered workshop services have two major aspects: transitional employment and extended employment. In transitional employment, the major goal is eventual placement in community employment. Such a program gives considerable emphasis to training, evaluation, and placement programs as well as to actual employment activities. In the extended employment program, the emphasis is upon a broad range of work activities for those who cannot function satisfactorily in competitive employment.

There are certain advantages in providing the mentally retarded with sheltered workshop services in programs which include other handicapped individuals. For some of the mentally retarded, such programs can permit broader opportunities for socialization experiences and widen the range of job contracts that can be fulfilled. These benefits can be realized, however, only if the staff of the multipurpose workshop recognizes the special needs of the retarded, particularly the longer training time frequently required.

In addition to the services defined above, many supplementary services are essential to the care and treatment of the retarded. Generally speaking, these services are components of generic community services available to the retarded and his family, as they are to any other individual or group within the community. Among these services are: preventive medical services, public health nursing, casework, counseling, homemaker services, foster home care, income maintenance services, legal aid services, and many others. Since these services are available to the total

community, they will usually be housed in the community facilities maintaining these programs. Occasionally it may be desirable, however, to provide housing of one or more of these services within a specialized facility for the retarded, particularly if the services are established primarily for that group.

## **Facilities**

Although the various services for the mentally retarded, as described above, may be housed in many kinds of facilities, four major types may be distinguished.

## DIAGNOSTIC AND EVALUATION CLINIC

A facility housing coordinated medical, psychological, and social services, supplemented where appropriate by nursing, educational, or vocational services and carried out under the supervision of personnel qualified to: (1) diagnose, appraise, and evaluate mental retardation and associated disabilities and the strengths, skills, abilities, and potentials for improvement of the individual and his family; (2) determine the needs of the individual; (3) develop recommendations for a specific plan of services to be provided with necessary counseling to carry out recommendations; and (4) where indicated, periodically reassess progress of the individual.

Diagnostic and evaluation clinics may be operated as a part of or be associated with such facilities as a medical teaching center, a mental health facility, a general hospital, a residential or day facility for the mentally retarded, a public health center, or a State agency, or may be freestanding. Insofar as possible, diagnostic and evaluation climes should be planned in proximity to general diagnostic services so as to avoid duplication and to assist in the recruitment of professional personnel. In many communities it is necessary to obtain diagnostic and evaluation services by utilizing the services of several different agencies or practitioners. To make effective use of such resources requires a high degree of cooperation among the agencies involved.

### DAY FACILITY

A facility housing treatment, educational, training, personal care, or sheltered workshop services on less than a 24-hour-a-day basis.

Day facilities provide many benefits to the retarded person, his family, and his community. Significant among them are: participation in supervised programs formally developed to meet individual needs, and maintenance of a controlled environment in which appropriate habit formation is a basic goal. These facilities also provide a wider range and type of experience than can be developed within the family. At the same time, the values of continuing participation in family life are retained. By using day facilities, parents are afforded some relief from the 24-hour task of care and, through participation in parent-counseling programs offered by such facilities, can obtain a better understanding of the problems of the retarded. Thus, day facilities make it possible to keep the retarded at home and in the community.

### RESIDENTIAL FACILITY

A facility housing treatment, educational, training, personal care, or sheltered workshop services on a 24-hour-a-day basis.

Residential facilities have a long history of providing services for the mentally retarded. In the process of their development, they have changed from being largely custodial institutions to facilities maintaining broad-gaged programs. These programs include services for the severely retarded and totally dependent as well as services for the retarded who cannot be maintained in the home or community because of emotional or behavior problems. Residential facilities also meet the needs of communities unable to financially support the services required by the retarded or in which placement in generic services or facilities such as foster homes is impractical or inadequate.

### **GROUP HOME FACILITY**

A facility which provides housing services, personal counseling services, and group activity services for individuals capable of personal selfcare and requiring only moderate or minimum supervision.

The major function of group home facilities is to provide opportunities for as much independence of living as can be maintained within a program framework which unobtrusively provides or makes available the services needed to sustain independence. These facilities may be satis-

factorily developed as homes for the adult retarded, young or old, living and working in the community. They may also be developed as halfway houses for the retarded in transition from residential to community life. These facilities may be established as freestanding institutions, independently owned or operated. Or they may be administratively associated with a residential facility, a day facility providing comprehensive services, or a

State agency having administrative responsibility for programs for the mentally retarded.

Some of the varied patterns in which services and facilities needed by the mentally retarded may be combined are visualized on chart III below, adapted from the Report of the Task Force of the President's Panel on Mental Retardation dealing with Prevention, Clinical Services, and Residential Care.

## Chart III.—Table of Community Care Services'

Home care <sup>2</sup> Home care	+0
	+ Social worker and/or public
	health nurses visiting in
	home.
Home care	+ Treatment center.
Home care	+ Night care.
Home care	+Day nursery.
Home care	+ Public school (special edu-
	cation).
Home care	+ Special school (commu -
	nity).
Home care	+ Training center.
Home care	+ Sheltered employment.
Home care	+ Competitive employment.
Home care	+ Recreation (activity) cen-
	ter.
Home care	+ Weekend residential care.
Home care	+ Residential care during pa-
	rental vacation or illness
	(short-term care).
Boarding school or prescho	ol+Home care—weekends.
Boarding school or prescho	
	ent + With or without employ-
or adult)	ment.
1 .	ential sheltered em-+Home
	weekends and
Residential hospital vacation	
	asional home visits.
	tered employment.
	ervised employment.
	reational (activity) center.
Independent living $+0$	
<sup>1</sup> May exist or be plant	ned in multiple combination.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> May exist or be planned in multiple combination.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Own home or foster home.

## Chapter III

## Basic Principles for Planning and Programing

PLANNING OF SERVICES and facilities is a process through which all factors relating to the needs of the mentally retarded can be identified and considered as an integrated whole. In this process, adherence to basic principles is a fundamental requirement. These principles must be realistic, timely, and most important, productive of tangible results. The process necessitates definition of the nature and scope of the problem as manifested locally. It calls for awareness of the resources available to deal with the problem and identification of those aspects of the problem that remain to be solved. The process also enlists services and skills of professional and community leaders, including those with particular interest in the mentally retarded.

Planning affords opportunities for developing greater awareness of the needs of the retarded and for stimulating the action necessary to achieve a comprehensive pattern of services for them. Effective planning cannot be done in isolation. Plans for the development and coordination of appropriate resources must relate to other planning efforts and to other health, education, and welfare activities in the planning area. These efforts and activities have an impor-

tant bearing on the need for services and facilities for the mentally retarded.

Principles sufficiently broad to encompass the needs of the mentally retarded, yet consonant with the cultural and economic patterns of the areas to be served, should be formulated. Factors to be considered include the types of services and facilities best suited to meet the particular needs of the retarded within these areas, based upon the best knowledge available, the feasibility of providing these services and facilities within the limitations of existing and anticipated community resources, and the degree to which acceptance and support can be expected.

Planning must address itself to the balancing of conflicting objectives. For example, the objective of making maximum use of scarce professional talent may be in apparent conflict with the objective of bringing services close to the homes of retarded individuals. The process of planning should be organized to identify explicitly and weigh the relative importance of such factors in a particular situation.

Once these basic determinations have been made, the development of the definitive plan to achieve specified objectives should take into account the following principles: 1. Planning of services and facilities for the mentally retarded should involve full participation of any governmental, voluntary, or other agency having a major responsibility to the mentally retarded, to the end that effective coordination be achieved. Any agency or group which is considered to have a significant potential for contributing some element to the overall program for the retarded should also be encouraged to participate in the planning process.

Only through coordinated effort can adequate programs providing the widest possible services be developed. In addition, effective use of available funds to support construction and operation of needed facilities and services can be fostered through cooperation and participation of all interested agencies and organizations in planning to meet the needs of the retarded. The extent of involvement wull necessarily reflect the degree of responsibility and commitment of the particular agency toward the retarded.

## 2. General community services and facilities should be available to the mentally retarded to the fullest extent possible.

Many of the medical, health, educational, and social service needs of the mentally retarded are similar to those of the general population, and maximum use should be made of general services which meet such needs. In many cases, the usefulness of these services can be extended and enhanced with the advice of a person having special knowledge of the character and needs of the retarded, or through some minor modification of procedure. To the extent that general services and facilities are thus made more widely useful and adapted to the special needs of the retarded, it will be possible to avoid capital outlays and operational costs for separate services and facilities. Moreover, available professional staff, in many areas a scarce commodity, is utilized more fully.

Such provisions, however, do not obviate the need for certain specialized services and facilities. Even when maximum adaptation of general services has been achieved, there will remain in any community or area certain needs which can and should be met by services especially designed for the mentally retarded, either in association with other services or "freestanding."

## 3. Existing services suitable for the retarded (whether general or specialized) should be identified and considered in relation to one

another; priority should be established for the organization of new services to complete the array necessary for a comprehensive program.

Since the needs of the retarded vary widely, planning agencies should recognize that a wide range of services will be required.

## 4. Planning of services and facilities for the retarded should be related to other forms of community planning and to social and economic trends.

The development and utilization of services and facilities for the retarded will be affected by many aspects of community life, such as trends in population growth, shifts in age composition, and changes in land utilization and patterns of commercial and industrial growth. The demand for services and facilities for the retarded may also be influenced by any shift in the content of programs of other health, education, and welfare agencies. Practical and realistic planning calls for an understanding of all potentially influencing factors.

## 5. Planning agencies and organizations should stimulate the development of programs for the prevention of mental retardation concurrently with programs providing facilities and services for the retarded.

The extent and impact of mental retardation can be minimized through preventive measures. Such programs as those providing maternal and child care, particularly in "high risk" areas, and programs for early diagnosis, evaluation, and case finding can do much to lessen the incidence of retardation. Through preventive programs, even today, individuals can be spared much mental and, frequently, physical damage, and their families will be spared great emotional stress. The cost of preventive programs will be far less than the total cost of providing the spectrum of facilities and services needed for those who might otherwise be retarded.

## 6. Adequate data should be developed to provide a base for projecting the extent, character, and location of services and facilities which will be needed.

The soundness of quantitative decisions and the effectiveness of evaluative interpretations in planning services and facilities for the mentally retarded are contingent upon the adequacy of available data. The development of long-range goals depends on knowledge of the broad needs. To proceed toward these long-range goals, the planning body needs to project in detail the immediate steps to be taken. This requires data about needs, such as general information regarding number and distribution of retarded children under school age whose families could and would avail themselves of a nursery school situation, or the number of adult retardates who could be maintained in the community with minimal social supervision, for the lack of which they would be admitted to 24-hour residential care. The capacity of each existing service should be compared to the extent of need for that type of service.

Need should be distinguished from demand, however. Demand should be assessed with special reference to the way in which the existing service is perceived by those whose needs it is intended to meet. It is well-known that a good service tends to call forth the expression of need through demand for the service, whereas a poor service suppresses demand even where need exists.

In addition, the data should (1) provide criteria for interpreting potentials for expansion and upgrading of existing facilities and services, and (2) permit determination of resources available within the area to maintain quality programs at efficient levels.

## 7. Planning should be based on the total and complete needs of the mentally retarded for serv ices and facilities rather than on the availability of financial support.

The primary objective in planning services and facilities should be consideration of the total and complete needs of the mentally retarded. The recognition of these needs should not be limited by existing policies of governmental or sponsoring agencies or the funds available. Priorities for meeting these needs must be established, and this involves the development of both long-range and short-range goals.

## 8. Short-range planning involves the selection of the higher priorities in the long-range plan.

Factors influencing the selection of high priority activities for inclusion in the short-range plans include urgency of needs and feasibility of meeting these needs quickly. Feasibility, in turn, is influenced by available resources of facilities, funds, personnel, leadership, and public acceptance. Attention should be given to cultivation of community resources through continuing involvement of community leaders and groups in the planning process. Short-range steps should

not be taken which tend to defeat long-range goals.

## 9. Where feasible and appropriate, existing facilities should be improved.

A detailed evaluation of the effectiveness and efficiency of existing services and facilities should be an integral part of all planning activity. This evaluation should cover effectiveness of program, adequacy of staff, relation of size to objectives, suitability of structure and location, and potential for improvement or adaptation. New services may often be added to existing facilities rather than being established independently. Oversized institutions may often advantageously be reduced in capacity or made more versatile in their services. All such possibilities should be carefully weighed during the planning process.

## 10. Facilities and services for the mentally retarded should be planned to meet or exceed existing standards.

Facilities should be planned to meet or exceed any generally accepted minimal requirements which may already exist for accreditation, eligibility for licensure, or grants-in-aid or loan programs. If the accreditation or licensure standards are lacking or inadequate, the support for their development should be stimulated.

## 11. As far as practicable, facilities for the mentally retarded should be located so as to be readily accessible.

To the extent appropriate and feasible, services and facilities for the mentally retarded should be planned so as to be accessible to the population to be served and to professional staff. Travel time and expense for the retarded should be minimized, expecially where daily travel is involved. Residential facilities should be located where families may visit easily. Careful consideration should also be given to the distribution pattern of needed professional personnel and the factors which attract and hold staff.

The location of facilities should be planned to permit effective coordination and interrelationships with other related health, education, and welfare services. Decisions on the location of facilities should be based not only on the present distribution of population but also on a consideration of population trends and growth and projected development of transportation systems.

To provide opportunities for research and training of personnel, the potential for productive interaction between facilities for the retarded and the higher education system should be cultivated. Accessibility of such resources will contribute notably toward the primary purpose of bringing the best possible service to all the retarded in the State in a community setting.

## 12. Projected needs for continuing inservice training of personnel should be explicitly consid ered as part of State and community planning for the retarded.

Some centralization of such training may be advantageous. Proximity to existing schools, colleges, and universities is a relevant factor. In any case, the possible need for suitable space for training activities in appropriate facilities should be considered.

## 13. Planning groups should develop proce dures to evaluate their activities on a continuing basis.

By the process of continual evaluation, overall needs will be kept in constant focus and changes can be made whenever justified. This will also contribute to new and more effective means of meeting needs, particularly as consideration is given to new knowledge. Planning bodies should be alert to the significance of lessons to be learned from experience in other communities and in other areas of the country, as well as from their own activities. Pull use should be made of resources which may be mobilized from beyond the area directly under study.

The development of such procedures to evaluate their own activities will assist planning groups in withstanding undue influence by special interests, whether they are professional, religious, civic, or proprietary. It will also help restrain any tendencies toward rigidity on the part of planning personnel, especially in dealing with long-range plans. The planning process should be responsive to changing conditions.

## Chapter IV

## Planning Procedures

PLANNING SERVICES and facilities for the mentally retarded is a continuing process, oriented toward the attainment of both short-term and long-term goals. In this orientation short-term goals become the focal point of immediate action, the objectives of current programing within the limits of available financial and personnel resources. Long-term goals reflect overall needs toward which all action should be directed and encompass the full range of services and facilities required by the retarded. Thus, a plan for the construction of facilities for housing services for the mentally retarded must be conceived and developed as a flexible mechanism amenable to changes in concepts of treatment and care and also to changes in characteristics and needs of the population to be served.

## Coordination of Planning Activities

A State plan developed in response to Public Law 88-164, the Mental Retardation Facilities and Community Mental Health Centers Construction Act of 1963, for the construction of facilities to house services for the mentally retarded should be consistent with the State's comprehensive mental retardation plan developed under Title

XVII of the Maternal and Child Health and Mental Retardation Planning Amendments of 1963, P.L. 88-156. The basic concepts and goals for the development of needed services and facilities should be, to the extent practicable, the same in both plans.

Since planning for community facilities for the mentally retarded, community mental health centers, and hospitals and related health facilities present separate and distinct problems in most planning areas, it is essential that the planning efforts in each program be separate activities. However, the State plans for the construction of facilities for each of these programs should be correlated so as to more nearly assure efficient use of capital and other resources and to minimize unnecessary duplication of services and facilities. In addition, the planning of community facilities for the retarded should be correlated with the program for the construction of universityaffiliated facilities for the mentally retarded, which authorizes project grants for facilities for clinical training of physicians and other specialized personnel in the field of mental retardation or for the demonstration of special services.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Title I, pt. B, Public Law 88-164, "The Mental Retardation Facilities and Community Mental Health Centers Construction Act of 1963."

## **Planning Organization**

## RESPONSIBILITY FOR PLANNING

The primary responsibility for planning services and facilities for the retarded should be vested in a State agency for several reasons. First, the geographic areas served by each of the various types of facilities required for the mentally retarded are not identical. For example, a diagnostic and evaluation clinic will ordinarily serve a larger geographic area than a day facility providing training services.

Second, a State agency will be aware of the broad considerations which must be given to major socioeconomic, cultural, and population problems in the planning of services and facilities for the retarded. Such factors as the impact on planning of "high risk" areas—areas of poverty and cultural deprivation—and metropolitan areas encompassing several political subdivisions can better be evaluated on a statewide basis than on a local or community basis.

Third, the legislation enacted by the 88th Congress authorizing Federal aid to assist in constructing facilities for the mentally retarded requires that a single State agency be designated to administer the program in each State.<sup>3</sup> This agency is responsible for, among other things, the development of a State plan for constructing specially designed facilities for the retarded. This plan is to be directed toward the provision of services for all retarded within the State. To accomplish this objective, the State agency must inventory existing services and facilities throughout the State, evaluate this information, and develop a construction program designed to provide the additional services and facilities needed. Furthermore, statewide plans must be modified each year, as necessary, to assure a continuing program geared to changing concepts and needs.

Public Law 88-164 calls for the appointment of an Advisory Council to the State agency which shall include representatives of the following: (1) State agencies concerned with planning, operation, and utilization of facilities for the retarded; (2) nongovernmental organizations concerned with education, employment, rehabilitation, welfare, and health; and (3) consumers of services provided by mental retardation facilities. For effective

planning of services and facilities for the retarded, the State Advisory Council for the mental retardation construction program should, in the opinion of this Committee, be separate from the State Advisory Council for the community mental health centers construction program and from the State Council for the Hill-Burton program.

### LOCAL PARTICIPATION

The development of effective services and facilities for the mentally retarded also requires planning at the local level within the framework of statewide planning. From this local planning, based on first hand knowledge of various factors, can come concrete proposals for the upgrading or expansion of existing programs, services, and facilities or for the establishment of new services and facilities. Local planning activities have three functions: (1) to develop basic detailed data regarding the mental retardation needs in the local area, following methods and procedures set up by the State planning agency; (2) to make recommendations to the State agency and its Advisory Council regarding courses of action to meet local needs; and (3) to assist the appropriate State agency in locating sponsors to carry out recommendations.

## ADEQUATE STAFFING ESSENTIAL

Adequate staff for the planning agency is essential to efficient planning of services and facilities for the mentally retarded. Of prime importance is the availability of professional personnel: (1) skilled in the various techniques of planning services and facilities to meet areawide needs; (2) with an understanding of the problems faced by the mentally retarded; and (3) with the ability to translate this knowledge into a program of action. In addition to the professional staff, the planning organization should have access to experienced consultants. Qualified consultants may be found among professional personnel of established facilities and from organizations and agencies involved in the planning of medical, educational, vocational, and related health and welfare services for the retarded.

## Obtaining Needed Data

Projecting the need for services and facilities for the mentally retarded, whether on a state-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Title I, pt. C, Public Law 88-164, "The Mental Retardation Facilities and Community Mental Health Centers Construction Act of 1963."

wide or local basis, will necessitate the collection and evaluation of all available data regarding existing programs. The data collected must include estimates of the number of retarded individuals needing assistance, the extent to which existing services and facilities meet the needs, and the level of demand for additional services and facilities.

The socioeconomic, cultural, population, and geographical factors affecting planning must also receive consideration. Such information is essential to provide a base for realistic evaluation of the effectiveness and adequacy of services and facilities already in existence and the potential for expansion. Only after such information has been collected and analyzed, will it be possible for a planning agency to project the need for additional services and facilities.

## INFLUENCING FACTORS

In estimating the number of retarded persons requiring assistance, every effort should be made to secure data covering levels of retardation and age groupings. As pointed out previously in this report, the degree of concentration of individuals in the various levels of retardation (e.g., mild, moderate, severe, and profound) and age groups (e.g., children, adolescents, and adults) will directly affect the type of services and facilities which must be programed.

Data on all existing services and programs making a significant contribution to the retarded are fundamental to effective planning.

These include, among other things:

- numbers, type, size, sponsorship, structural and functional condition of facilities, and relationship with other services and facilities.
- utilization of facilities: e.g., numbers of re tarded receiving various kinds of services.
- demand for services: e.g., waiting lists for existing facilities; known pressures for new programs.
- staffing: e.g., physicians, nurses, physical thera pists, occupational therapists, vocational counse lors, special education teachers, social workers, and psychologists.

Other desirable kinds of estimates and projections cover:

• Population: e.g., numbers, trends, age groups, concentration, and prevalence of mental retarda tion by levels of retardation and age groupings.

- Socioeconomic conditions: e.g., income, in dustrial and commercial patterns, and employment opportunities.
- Topography: e.g., transportation routes, natural barriers, shopping centers, and location of facilities and services.

### Sources of Information

Agencies involved in planning and programing for the construction of facilities for the mentally retarded may be able to obtain a considerable amount of valuable data from several organizations and agencies. Among them are the following:

## Public Agencies

State agencies for mental retardation (these may be administrative units within State agencies).

State departments having concern for the following functions:

public health mental health

public welfare

institutions

corrections

economic planning

education (administrative units for special education) State crippled children's

agency (if separate

from the department of public health). State agencies for vocational rehabilitation. State employment agencies. State planning organizations. State universities.

## Voluntary Agencies

State units of: National Association for Retarded Children,

Inc.

United Cerebral Palsy Associations, Inc. National Association for Mental Health.

## Local and Regional Agencies

Health and welfare councils. Areawide planning organizations. Regional planning commissions. Colleges and universitites. Local units of State, public, and voluntary agencies.

## Professional Organizations

American Association on Mental Deficiency. State medical groups.

State educational organizations. State rehabilitation associations. State social welfare associations.

## Measuring Need for Services

Full consideration must be given to the developmental nature of mental retardation, the wide spectrum of services required, and the effect of level of retardation and age grouping, in measuring need for specialized services and facilities for the retarded within a given geographical area. In addition to the utilization of available statistical data, considerable reliance must be placed upon the judgments of knowledgeable and experienced persons in making these determinations.

In measuring need for specialized services and facilities within an area, account should be taken of community health, education, and welfare facilities accommodating other segments of the population and the extent to which these can house certain specialized services.

Some specialized services do not require extensive housing. On the other hand, services that depend upon daily participation of the retarded for effectiveness may require more space. Thus, education and training services and facilities will require more in the way of housing than diagnostic and evaluation services.

## LEVEL OF RETARDATION AND AGE GROUPING

Some aspects of the impact of the level of retardation and age grouping on measuring needs are presented in the following:

## Mildly Retarded

Children.—The successful melding of the more capable mentally retarded adults into the general population can be achieved only if an appropriate array of general and specialized services is available to them as children. The proportion of pupils sufficiently retarded to require a modified curriculum will vary from less than 1 percent to more than 10 percent of the total school enrollment, depending on the social, economic, and other local environmental conditions which tend to minimize or maximize mental retardation. Better health and social services might help to reduce this figure. Until a preschool training program is instituted, however, the majority of

mildly retarded children are not likely to be detected

It is estimated that approximately one million mildly retarded children should be receiving the benefits of special education. Of these, only about one-third are enrolled in public school special classes at the present time. However, the number for whom special class instruction is provided in the public schools has been increasing during recent years.

Most mildly retarded adolescents are aware of the difficulties they have in "keeping up" with their classmates and are also sensitive to the widening differences in aspirations between themselves and their normal classmates. This sensitivity accentuates cultural conflicts and other adolescent problems and, in some instances, precipitates emotional disturbance of a degree requiring psychiatric attention. The extent and character of psychiatric disturbance among the mildly retarded in a given community constitutes one of the variables to which attention should be given in the planning process.

In areas where unfavorable conditions prevail, the social problems of the retarded will be aggravated, especially for the adolescent and young adult. Antisocial behavior on the part of the retarded youth will be more likely than will such behavior by the normal young person to lead to insistence that he be removed from the community. Special residential facilities may be required for the rehabilitation of members of this group.

Adults.—Planning for mildly retarded adults should emphasize utilization of generic community services. Among the mildly retarded, some degree of subnormal intelligence usually persists into adult life. With adequate training and social guidance, however, the majority in this group can make a sufficiently good adjustment (adaptation of behavior) to maintain themselves socially and economically within the community. The achievement of such social and vocational independence depends in large measure on services providing guidance and training, including a "school-work" experience or a period of employment under sheltered conditions designed to ease the transition from school to work. Social and vocational counseling, which take account of the limitation of the retarded individual, must continue to be available, preferably within the agencies which offer such services to those who are not mentally retarded.

## The Moderately and Severely Retarded

Children.—The total number of moderately and severely retarded children of school age in the nation is estimated to be between 150,000 and 200,000. Unlike the mildly retarded, the moderately and severely retarded are usually detected prior to school entrance, in the sense that parents and those close to them (e.g., family physicians) are usually aware that some problem exists. Experience has shown, however, that relatively few of these children come to the attention of agencies which give systematic or specifically identifiable service, even in areas where special clinics have been established. The children become conspicuous during school years because they are clearly unadapted to participation in the regular school program.

Children in these categories tend to be found in all social strata. Unless more reliable data are available to the State or local planning agency, it may be assumed for planning purposes that approximately one-third of 1 percent of the school enrollment may be used as a base for measuring needs for services and facilities for the moderately and severely retarded in children of school age.

Adults.—The percentage of moderately and severely retarded in the adult population is not known, but it is less than one-third of 1 percent. Even within this group there is a diversity of needs. A significant proportion may be capable of being maintained in the community if continuing long-term sheltered employment opportunities are afforded. In addition, others in residential facilities may also need sheltered workshop and related services. The moderately retarded adults without families to provide a home require suitable living arrangements with adequate social and other safeguards. Frequently, these are a necessary complement to sheltered work programs.

### The Profoundly Retarded

Children.—Throughout the Nation there are approximately 50,000 profoundly retarded children. These children, together with those at the lower end of the severely retarded category, are usually found in the home or in residential institutions. Many of the severely and profoundly retarded are physically handicapped to such an extent that families do not seek group programs for them. A few of these children may be known to

agencies serving the physically handicapped. Recent efforts in establishing day centers have demonstrated both the usefulness of group programs and the possibilities for training in fundamental functions. In addition, facilities are needed to house services for the treatment of associated physical and sensory disabilities.

Adults.—The total number of profoundly retarded adults is uncertain but probably does not exceed 35,000. Greater life expectancy may be expected to increase the numbers of the profoundly retarded and to influence the pattern of demands for both day and residential care in the next decade. A significant number of profoundly retarded children even now remain at home at least until adolescence. Some adults come to the attention of agencies only when age or infirmity of parents becomes a factor. In the past decade, a pronounced increase both in the total number and proportion of the profoundly retarded in residential care has been noted. At present they constitute somewhat more than onefourth of the patients of all ages in public residential institutions for the retarded. Approximately one-sixth of these profoundly retarded patients are over 40 years of age.

## NEEDS IN RELATION TO TYPE OF SERVICE

Complete planning should include the full range of services and facilities as described in the report of the President's Panel on Mental Ketardation. This section focuses attention on general estimates of the extent of need for services for which facilities may be constructed under Public Law 88-164, the Mental Retardation Facilities and Community Mental Health Centers Construction Act of 1963.

## Diagnostic and Evaluation Services

Diagnostic services accept children and adults who have not yet been definitively classified as to disability and need. Generally speaking, however, most referrals tend to be made in terms of perceived need and perceived function of the service, rather than on the as-yet-to-be-made refined analysis. Thus, a specialized clinic for the retarded or handicapped tends to receive only those cases which are sufficiently marked so that retardation is fairly obvious to parents or referring physician.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See item 12, Suggested Reading List.

Whether a clinic is designed primarily for the retarded, for children with "developmental disorders," or for children with apparent neurological impairment, it may be expected that the number of new cases of mental retardation referred to the clinic will be 200 to 300 per million population per year. This figure does not include referrals which, on examination, turn out not to be mentally retarded. The caseload of a new clinic during the first years of operation may be higher than this figure because of a backlog not previously diagnosed or evaluated. Moreover, if the diagnostic clinic provides continuing review, counseling, reassessment, and interpretative services, the active caseload at any one time will be at least two or three times the number of referrals.

Initial diagnosis will require a complete workup and recurrent evaluations may be necessary. Some provisions should be made to have diagnostic and evaluation services available for all age groups. However, an identification and initial diagnostic service will, in practice, be supplied in a variety of settings, and not all mentally retarded of all types will be channeled through special diagnostic and evaluation clinics. For example, many mildly retarded children will not be referred to a specialized clinic but may be handled in a more general way, either in general pediatric clinics, through the school psychological services, or in mental hygiene clinics.

### **Treatment Services**

Facilities for treatment, including surgical procedures, remediation of sensory defects, speech therapy, physical therapy, psychiatric treatment, and other appropriate therapies are likely to be provided for the retarded in settings where other activities are also provided. Among these settings are:

- a. Specialized diagnostic clinic, following diagnosis and evaluation.
- b. General or special purpose community hospital.
  - c. Rehabilitation center.
  - d. Residential center for the retarded.
- e. Day program providing education, train ing, or personal care services.
- f. Community mental health center or hospital.

Estimates of the extent of need for additional treatment services can be made only through an analysis of the caseload of the facilities described

above to determine the extent to which treatment is or can be made a feasible part of their programs. A large portion of the need for treatment services will stem from the fact that many of the retarded, especially the severely and profoundly retarded, have multiple handicaps, including motor dysfunction and sensory impairments which may be amenable to proper treatment.

## Education and Training Services

*Preschool.*—Preschool services may be described as group training for young retarded children designed to prepare them for successful entry into public school programs. These, in turn, fall into two main categories.

- 1. Preschool programs for children with mild functional retardation attributable to social or cultural inadequacies in the environment. As suming identification of every mentally retarded child by age 15, it is estimated that between 300 and 800 new cases per million of total population would be found annually. It is only realistic to recognize, however, that this identification and initial diagnostic service will, in practice, have to be supplied in a variety of settings and that not all the mentally retarded of all types can be channeled through one type of diagnostic gateway.
- 2. Preschool programs for moderately re tarded children with clinically recognizable forms of retardation, including organic syndromes, who need training in self-help and socialization experiences with other children. Assuming an average 2-year enrollment period, the need for this type of service may be estimated at approximately two per 1,000 of kindergarten enrollment in the area to be served.

School Programs.—The following school programs can be identified:

- 1. For the mildly retarded or "educable," a 5-days-a-week, full-day schooling oriented toward vocational goals is needed for an average of approximately 2 to 2.5 percent of the school enrollment.
- 2. For the moderately retarded and other "trainable," a 5-days-a-week full-school-day pro gram is needed for approximately 2 to 3 per 1,000 of school enrollment. This may be divided be tween classes in day facilities and classes in residential settings.
- 3. For children of school age who do not qualify as "educable" or "trainable," day care with training in self-help is successful where population density makes it feasible. Between

.5 and 1 per 1,000 of school enrollment may require this service.

Post-School Programs.—Sheltered workshop services should be included in post-school programs:

- 1. Continuation classes for retarded adults are needed. These have been relatively little developed except in residential settings where existing classroom facilities can usually be used for evening courses.
- 2. Rehabilitation workshops providing work training and experience as an intermediate between school and work have demonstrated their use fulness in conjunction with longer-term sheltered employment opportunities. These services are suitable in parts of the country where there are industries which can employ rehabilitants or provide the subcontracts for workshops for the retarded. Needs will vary with the employment market, and will range up to 1 per 1,000 of the adult population.
- 3. Adult activities and independent living centers for those incapable of productive work, competitive or sheltered, are essential in the community. Day care or day activity centers may be organized with training, treatment or recreational components. Due to the increasing span of life, the number of persons who could benefit from such services is probably lower today than it will be in 5 or 10 years hence.

## Residential Care

Many factors will influence the demand or need for 24-hour-a-day care for the mentally retarded who cannot be cared for in their own or foster homes. Here, too, a range of services may be contemplated. Some short-term care is indicated, but the volume will be small. Some small residential units (group homes) with minimal supervision for more capable moderately retarded or more handicapped mildly retarded are being given increased consideration. In view of the many factors involved and the possible influence of changing patterns of community care, it is impossible to specify a "recommended" number of units of residential care on the basis of population. At present, there is a tenfold difference between the various States in terms of numbers for whom accommodation is now provided per 1,000 population, ranging from approximately .2 to 2 per

1,000 population with the average close to 1 per 1,000 population.

The needs of the following groups for residential care deserve particular attention from planning bodies:

*Infants.*—Additional facilities will be needed for the care of profoundly retarded, grossly malformed infants.

The Moderately and Severely Retarded of all Ages.—Despite expert opinion that many children in this category can and should be maintained in the community at least until adolescence, considerable pressure continues to be exerted for admission of the preschool or early. school-age groups to the residential facility. The long waiting lists of school-age children for admission to residential facilities appears to be due, in part, to a failure by public school personnel to recognize the needs of this group. Another factor is the position taken by many private physicians that the public school system in then\* respective communities cannot handle the problem.

At the present time, residential facilities also provide sheltered care for the moderately retarded adult in the absence of immediate family. A successful change in this pattern could be produced with the development of concurrent long-range effective programs for supervision and guidance, as well as leisure time and work activity, for the moderately mentally retarded in the community.

The Profoundly Retarded Adult.—This category may be expected to increase significantly within the next decade as the postwar "baby boom" grows up. As a result of the improved postwar survivorship this increase will probably be more than proportionate to the increase in population with a resultant increase in the need for residential services.

The Mildly Retarded Adolescent and Young Adult.—Experience shows that, despite improved programs, a certain number of mildly retarded adolescents still exhibit behavior which is unacceptable in the community and which has resulted in their being committed to residential institutions when mental retardation is noted to be present. This occurs even though mental retardation may, in fact, be the secondary handicap. A sharp numerical increase in demand for this type of care may be anticipated between 1964 and 1970, reflecting the maturation of those born in post-war years.

## Delineation of Regional Geographic Service Areas

Because of the relatively large geographic area covered by the State and the feeling of autonomy in certain areas, it is generally necessary for the State planning agency—and always necessary for a local planning organization—to delineate geographic areas for which adequate services for the mentally retarded are planned. These delineated areas should be of sufficient size and population concentration to permit the development of a full range of services consistent with the needs of the retarded and giving full consideration to all levels of retardation and age groupings. Delineation of large geographical areas permits flexibility in planning to meet the needs for all kinds of services and facilities.

As pointed out previously, the geographical area covered by specific services and facilities will vary. For example, the areas served by a diagnostic and evaluation clinic may be a region of the State or interstate area. On the other hand, it is generally recognized that a day facility should serve only a geographical territory which will insure that the facility will be within one hour's travel time of the homes of the retarded. The area served by residential facilities usually is larger than that for day facilities, but should be of a size that will permit weekend travel of residents to their homes and enable parents, relatives, and friends to visit the facility.

Many other factors should also be considered in the delineation of areas. Among them are availability of personnel to staff services, travel patterns, and location of medical centers and universities. Also, the patterns of geographic coverage already established by planning groups involved in health, education, and welfare may well be reviewed to determine the feasibility of delineating mental retardation areas in the same patterns. Such a procedure would permit optimum utilization of generic services by the retarded and provided opportunities for correlation of specialized services for the retarded with services for the general community. For example, the regional areas developed in connection with the Hill-Burton program might, in many States, provide an approach to the delineation of service areas in planning certain services and facilities for

the mentally retarded. An example would be community residential facilities. Other facilities, such as day facilities, might follow more nearly the pattern established for consolidated school systems.

## Analysis of Needs and Resources

A major task in planning is the determination of the mental retardation groups to be served, by levels of retardation and age groupings, and the services and facilities required. Based upon an analysis of the data obtained and an application of previously suggested measures of need, it should be possible for the planning organization to identify inadequacies in existing services and programs and also particular groups of the retarded not receiving service or inadequately served. In this connection, the judgment of individuals familiar with the needs of the retarded within the various delineated areas will be of utmost importance.

Following this analysis, recommendations regarding the development of new or expanded facilities or the remodeling and modernizing of existing facilities should be developed and incorporated in the State or local plan. Among the items to be considered in formulating these recommendations are the establishment of both shortrange and long-range goals for construction, the ability of a service area to support the type of services and facilities needed, and the proper location of the facilities to house the services.

In establishing goals, the planning organization must recognize that many needed services for the retarded will not require construction of facilities. Recommendations should be made. first, as to the services and programs needed and, second, as to whether or not housing will be required. The determination of goals, both longrange and short-range, should be based on an evaluation of current patterns of use, effectiveness of existing units, proper utilization of staff, and other judgmental factors as well as upon a consideration of the services not presently available and the number of retarded persons not served. As pointed out in chapter I, short-range goals should include phasing of programs to accomplish the long-range objectives.

## **Priorities**

Limited funds make it imperative for the State plan to establish a priority system for the construction of needed facilities. Such a system should be based on principles which will assure the most efficient utilization of the various resources which can be mobilized to the best advantage of the retarded. Basically, a priority system will show, first, the relative need among the various areas to be served and, second, the relative need for different types of facilities within the same service area.

Both quantitative and qualitative data must be utilized in determining relative need. Due to the developmental nature of mental retardation and the wide variety of services necessary to provide a continuum of care for each individual, judgmental factors will be extremely important in the establishment of a priority system. In most instances, these judgmental factors will be of greater significance than the quantitative data which may be available. Some of the more important factors in both categories include:

## QUANTITATIVE (FACTUAL) FACTORS

- size of the population group for which services are to be planned
- levels of retardation and age groups to be served
- socioeconomic and cultural characteristics of the area

## QUALITATIVE (VALUE) FACTORS

- availability of generic community services, such as health, education, and welfare activities, for the retarded
  - availability of community support
  - relative need for specific specialized services
- contribution to the comprehensiveness of programing within the area
- extent of cooperation of services with other mental retardation facilities or programs
- potential quality of programs to be pro vided
- extent to which funds (or facilities) will permit the mentally retarded to live in own home, in own community, or outside the community.

## Carrying Out Recommendations

The members of the planning organizations have a major responsibility for continuing interpretation of planning recommendations to public and nonprofit agency personnel, government officials, and civic leaders. In this they should work cooperatively with those most concerned with ongoing general programs for the retarded in the State, especially the State agencies with major responsibilities for the retarded and the State Association for Retarded Children.

The ultimate test of all planning for services and facilities for the retarded is the effectiveness of the action taken on the recommendations. In view of this, the recommendations must be understood by the key leadership within the planning area and be capable of implementation within the resources of the area, both current and potential. It is at this point that the differentiation between short-range programing and longrange goals comes clearly into focus. The recommendations of the planning group involving short-range programing must be amenable to immediate action. Those involving long-range objectives should be based on the anticipated successful resolution of problems requiring first attention.

Effective action on the recommendations of a planning group regarding the needs for construction of facilities to house services for the retarded involves, among many things, the following:

Establishment of a realistic program to carry out recommendations.—The program (or programs) should be well conceived, practical, and its goals and objectives accepted and supported by the community.

Gaining and maintaining full support of community and professional leaders.—Full support is essential and must be sustained over a long period of time to accomplish the results anticipated in the recommendations.

Securing and maintaining adequate and sound financial support.—Financial support for both capital outlays and operating funds on a continuing basis is indispensable to effective action in providing needed services and facilities for the retarded.

Developing professional staff necessary to provide quality services.—Qualified and experienced professional personnel should be available in sufficient numbers to meet current and potential staffing requirements of existing and programed services and facilities.

## Developing Evaluation and Program Analysis Procedures

Keeping abreast of new demands and changing conditions will require the development of evaluation and program analyses procedures. The State planning agency should develop procedures for self-evaluation to maintain its activities at a high level of efficiency. Where feasible and appropriate,

State planning agencies may find it desirable to engage in analysis in such areas as: (1) measurement of need for mental retardation facilities and services; (2) patterns of utilization of mental etardation facilities; and (3) financial support of facilities. In addition, procedures should also be designed to evaluate the activities of existing facilities in their efforts to meet the demands of new developments and needs in the field of mental retardation.

## **Appendix**

## Suggested Reading List

- 1. American Association on Mental Deficiency. *A Manual on Program Development in Mental Retardation*. Willimantic, Conn., January 1962. 187 pp.
- 2. American Association on Mental Deficiency. *A Manual on Terminology and Classification in Mental Retardation*. Willimantic, Conn., 1961. 109 pp.
- 3. American Association on Mental Deficiency. Standards for State Residential Institutions for the Mentally Retarded. Willimantic, Conn., 1964. 101 pp.
- 4. American Public Health Association, Inc. *Services for Handicapped Children*. New York, N.Y., 1955. 148 pp.
- 5. Child Welfare League of America. *Day Care Standards*. New York, N.Y., 1960. 46 pp.
- 6. Davies, Stanley Powell and Ecob, Katherine G. *The Mentally Retarded in Society*. New York, Columbia University Press, 1959. 248 pp.
- 7. Dybwad, Gunnar. *Challenges in Mental Re tardation*. New York, Columbia University Press, 1964. 287 pp.
- 8. Hunt, J. McV. *Intelligence and Experience*. New York, Konald Press, 1961. 416 pp.
- 9. Masland, Richard L.; Saranson, Seymour B. and Gladwin, Thomas. *Mental Subnormality*. New York, Basic Books, Inc., 1958. 442 pp.

- 10. National Association for Retarded Children. *A Basic Library on Mental Retardation*. New York, N.Y., 1963. 8 pp.
- 11. National Association for Retarded Children. *Current Trends in Research, Programs and Services for the Mentally Retarded.* New York, N.Y., 1960. 85 pp.
- 12. President's Panel on Mental Retardation. *National Action To Combat Mental Retardation*. Washington, D.C., U.S. Government Printing Office, October 1962. 201 pp.
- 13. President's Panel on Mental Retardation. *Chart Book—Mental Retardation: A National Plan for a National Problem.* Washington, D.C., U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, 1963. 69 pp.
- 14. President's Panel on Mental Retardation. Report of the Mission to Denmark and Sweden by the President's Panel on Mental Retardation. Washington, D.C., U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, 1962. 48 pp.
- 15. President's Panel on Mental Retardation. Report of the Mission to the U.S.S.R. by the President's Panel on Mental Retardation. Washington, D.C., U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, 1962. 64 pp.
- 16. President's Panel on Mental Retardation. Report of the Mission to the Netherlands by the President's Panel on Mental Retardation. Wash-

- ington, D.C., U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, 1962. 97 pp.
- 17. President's Panel on Mental Retardation. *Report of Task Force on Coordination*. Washing ton, D.C., U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, 1963. 46 pp.
- 18. President's Panel on Mental Retardation. *Report of Task Force on Behavioral and Social Research*. Washington, D.C., U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, 1964. 73 pp.
- 19. President's Panel on Mental Retardation. *Report of the Task Force on Law.* Washington, D.C., U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, 1963. 41 pp.
- 20. President's Panel on Mental Retardation. *Report of the Task Force on Prevention, Clinical Services, and Residential Care.* Washington, D.C., U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Wel fare, 1962. 57 pp.
- 21. Rothstein, Jerome H. Mental Retardation.

- New York, Holt, Rinehart, and Winston, 1961. 628 pp.
- 22. U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. *Mental Retardation: Activities of the U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare.* Washington, D.C., July 1963. 119 pp.
- 23. U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. *Mental Retardation: Fiscal Year 1965 Program of the U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare.* Washington, D.C., March 1964. 51 pp.
- 24. U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. "New Approaches to Mental Retarda tion and Mental Illness." Reprint from *Health, Education, and Welfare Indicators.* Washington, D.C., November 1963. 50 pp.
- 25. U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. *Proceedings of the White House Conference on Mental Retardation*. Washington, D.C., Sep tember 18-20, 1963. 143 pp.

### RELATED AD HOC COMMITTEE REPORTS

PREVIOUS Ad Hoc Committee reports which are part of the series of publications concerned with hospital and related health facility planning are:

"Planning of Facilities for Mental Health Services," Report of the Surgeon General's Ad Hoc Committee on Planning for Mental Health Facilities. Public Health Service Publication No. 808. January 1961. 55 pp. 40 cents.

"Areawide Planning for Hospitals and Related Health Facilities," Report of the Joint Committee of the American Hospital Association and Public Health Service. Public Health Service Publication No. 855. July 1961. 56 pp. 35 cents.

"Areawide Planning of Facilities for Long-Term Treatment and Care," Report of the Joint Committee of the American Hospital Association and the Public Health Service. Public Health Service Publication No. 930-B-l. February 1963. 81 pp. 55 cents.

"Areawide Planning of Facilities for Rehabilitation Services," Report of the Joint Committee of the Public Health Service and the Vocational Rehabilitation Administration—Participating Agency: Association of Rehabilitation Centers, Inc. Public Health Service Publication No. 930-B-2. 1963. 88 pp. 55 cents.

"Areawide Planning of Facilities for Tuberculosis Services," Report of the Joint Committee of the National Tuberculosis Association and the Public Health Service. Public Health Service Publication No. 930-B-4. 1963. 46 pp. 40 cents.

"Medical Education Facilities—Planning Considerations and Architectural Guide," Prepared by the Public Health Service in cooperation with ad hoc committees on Medical School Architecture and Design of University Teaching Hospitals. Public Health Service Publication No. 1180-A-lb. 1964. 185 pp. \$1.00.

"Nursing Education Facilities—Programing Considerations and Architectural Guide," Report of the Joint Committee on Educational Facilities for Nursing of the National League for Nursing and the Public Health Service. Public Health Service Publication No. 1180-F-lb. 1964. 88 pp. 65 cents.

Free single copies of the above publications are available from—Division of Hospital and Medical Facilities Public Health Service
U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare Washington, D.C. 20201.

The publications may be purchased at the above-cited prices from— The Superintendent of Documents U.S. Government Printing Office Washington, D.C. 20402.

## HOSPITAL AND MEDICAL FACILITIES SERIES

The Hospital and Medical Facilities Series now includes material under three general subdivisions: The Hill-Burton Program Health Professions Education Facilities for the Mentally Retarded

The publications which have been issued under the first subdivision (the Hill-Burton Program) are briefly described in an annotated bibliography, "Hill-Burton Publications," Public Health Service Publication No. 930-G-3, which will be provided upon request. For a free single copy, write to: Division of Hospital and Medical Facilities, Public Health Service, U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Washington, D.C., 20201.

The second and third subdivisions, Health Professions Education and Facilities for the Mentally Retarded, have just been instituted. As time goes on and publications are produced in the new fields, they will be included in subsequent issues of the bibliography.

# PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICE PUBLICATION NO. 1181 - B-1